
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Public Services Reform Policy and 
Accountability Committee

Agenda
Tuesday 29 January 2019 

7.00 pm
Courtyard Room - Hammersmith Town Hall

MEMBERSHIP

Administration Opposition
Councillor Sharon Holder (Chair)
Councillor Christabel Cooper
Councillor PJ Murphy
Councillor Guy Vincent

Councillor Dominic Stanton

CONTACT OFFICER: David Abbott
Scrutiny Manager
Governance and Scrutiny
: 020 8753 2063
E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk

Public Notice
Members of the press and public are welcome to attend this and all other Council 
meetings. Should exempt information need to be discussed the committee will pass 
a resolution requiring members of the press and public to leave.

The agenda is available at: www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees

Rights of access to meetings are subject to the provisions of the Local Government 
Act 1972 and the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985.

Date Issued: 21 January 2019

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Public Services Reform Policy and Accountability 
Committee

Agenda
29 January 2019

Item Pages

1.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING AND MATTERS ARISING 4 - 11
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 2018 – and 
note any matters arising.

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent.

At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken. 

Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest.

Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.

4.  SPECIALIST HOUSING 12 - 21
This report provides an update on the Council’s new approach to 
specialist housing - re-focusing investment towards prevention and 
recovery.



5.  CUSTOMER CARE AND COMPLAINTS 22 - 25
This report gives an overview of complaints, what the InTouch and 
Customer Relationship Teams do, recent performance, key findings and 
plans for improvement in the next couple of years.

6.  2019 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 26 - 43
This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered by 
this Committee – and an update is provided on any proposed changes 
in fees and charges.

7.  DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
The next meeting is scheduled for the 3rd of April 2019.



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham
Public Services Reform Policy 
and Accountability Committee

Minutes
Tuesday 16 October 2018

PRESENT

Committee members: Councillors Sharon Holder (Chair), Christabel Cooper, 
PJ Murphy, Guy Vincent and Dominic Stanton

Other Councillors: Councillor Adam Connell (Cabinet Member for Public Services 
Reform)

Guests: Tara Flood (Chair of the Disabled People's Commission)

Officers: 
Lisa Redfern (Director for Social Care and Public Services Reform), Mark Grimley 
(Director for Corporate Services), Anita Parkin (Director of Public Health), Mary 
Lamont (Head of HR Transformation), Tina Dempsey (Head of People and Talent 
Strategy), Dave Rogers (Deputy Head of HR), Peter Smith (Head of Policy and 
Strategy), Kevin Caulfield (Policy Officer), Matt Sales (Programme Manager), Sarah 
Bright (Assistant Director - Public Services Reform), Duncan Smith (Head of 
Business Intelligence), Jon Skaife (Strategic Commissioner), Fawad Bhatti (Social 
Inclusion & Policy Manager), and David Abbott (Scrutiny Manager)

1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING AND MATTERS ARISING 

Matters arising
Members asked for an update on the issues with the Family Support Services raised 
at the previous meeting. Lisa Redfern informed the Committee that the contract with 
CLCH would be continuing until the end of March. Members asked if the unexpected 
contract extension had cost the Council money. Officers said it had.

Lisa Redfern noted that officers had undertaken a comprehensive review of the 
Family Support Service. Officers had concerns about the transfer of the health 
visiting and school nursing contract at this stage so the extension was necessary. 
Members asked if officers were confident that the Family Support Service could take 
over the contract next year. Officers said they couldn't give those assurances at this 
stage.

Members questioned the purpose of the Family Support Service vehicle if it wasn't 
taking on these contracts. Lisa Redfern noted that the service was still continuing 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

early years and children's centre work – but there was a pause on further services 
being added to it. Members asked for an update on this situation at the next meeting.

ACTION: Lisa Redfern
Corrections
Councillor Guy Vincent noted the minute referring to Public Services Reform 
providing consultancy on whole-system reform to "other Councils to generate 
income" should have said consultancy to "other departments within Hammersmith & 
Fulham Council".

RESOLVED
That the minutes of the meeting held on 25 June 2018, with the corrections noted 
above, were approved as a correct record, and signed by the Chair.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

4. PROGRESS UPDATE ON WORK FOLLOWING THE DISABLED PEOPLE'S 
COMMISSION REPORT 

Kevin Caulfield (Policy Officer) presented the report that set out the progress made 
on implementing the recommendations in the Disabled People’s Commission report 
that was approved by Cabinet on 4 December 2017.

The Commission made eight key recommendations:
 The Council to implement a human rights approach to its policy and service 

development, using the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with 
Disabilities as the framework for change.

 The Council adopts and implements a policy which commits the Council to 
working in Co-production with Disabled residents.

 The Council develops and implements an accessible communication strategy 
that promotes the development of Coproduction across the borough.

 The Council, with the Co-production Hub, develops a strategy and resources 
its implementation to skill up and build the capacity of Disabled residents, 
local DPOs, staff and Councillors to participate in the Co-production of policy 
and service development.

 The Council to coproduce a quality assurance and social and economic value 
framework, which will define the values, behaviours and characteristics of all 
service providers and organisations funded or commissioned by the Council.

 Council to analyse existing financial expenditure and resources on all Co-
production engagement with Disabled residents to identify current expenditure 
and then reconfigure to develop a borough wide Co-production budget.

 The Council to work with local Disabled People's Organisations to identify and 
agree a long-term funding strategy, which will ensure that local Disabled 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

residents’ rights are upheld, inclusion and equality advanced and that 
Disabled residents can lead on Co-production.

 Carry out robust monitoring and evaluation of the implementation of the 
recommendations and associated Co-production work to evidence the impact 
and share learning within and beyond Hammersmith and Fulham.

Kevin Caulfield and Peter Smith (Head of Policy and Strategy) highlighted the work 
that had been done to advance those aims – in the Town Hall refurbishment 
programme, the Disabled People's Housing Strategy, the Independent Living 
Strategy, and a voting campaign ahead of the London local elections in May 2018.

The next steps were to set up an implementation group which will oversee the 
implementation of the recommendations. The group will be made up of Disabled 
residents, Councillors, and staff. It will develop a work plan to achieve the Council’s 
commitment to working with Disabled residents to remove barriers and making 
Hammersmith & Fulham a more inclusive borough in which to live and work. 
Recruitment to the group was taking place at the end of October 2018 and it is 
expected that the first meeting will take place in November 2018. The first 
independent evaluation of the group's work will take place one year on from its 
formation. Recruitment of the senior co-production officer in the Public Services 
Reform department will commence as soon as possible.

Councillor PJ Murphy highlighted the innovative work on the Town Hall 
refurbishment and asked if there were any plans to go to other councils and spread 
the good practice. Kevin Caulfield said a number of other councils were interested in 
the work we're doing and it would be a key issue for the implementation group to 
discuss. An idea being discussed was to have a London-wide conference to bring 
together elected officials and disabled people's groups to share ideas and good 
practice.

Tara Flood (Chair of the Disabled People's Commission) noted that she was due to 
attend an event in Merton with other local authorities and the voluntary sector to 
speak about the Commission's work.

Councillor PJ Murphy advised that the Council needed to link the recommendations 
with the business model of Council and the corporate business plan. The defined 
criteria of success needed to be business focussed to ensure they were truly 
embedded in the organisation.

The Chair thanked Tara Flood and officers for their work in this area.

RESOLVED
The Committee noted the report.

5. MOVING ON UPDATES 

Lisa Redfern (Director for Social Care and Public Services Reform) and Steve Miley 
(Director for Children's Services) provided verbal updates on the Moving On 
programme.

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Lisa Redfern noted the following points:
 In Social Care, the social work operational service was a sovereign service to 

begin with.
 All other services are now sovereign – with the exception of the hospital social 

work team and the emergency duty service which, due to best value, will 
remain as shared services.

 Public Services Reform was a new department created in Hammersmith & 
Fulham so remains sovereign.

Steve Miley made the following points:
 Family Services was already mostly delivered locally – though some services 

like fostering and adoption, the Local Safeguarding Children Board, and the 
emergency duty team have stayed shared for reasons of resourcing and best 
value.

 Education was fully integrated and is now a sovereign service. There were 
initially some challenges with recruitment but now a fully functioning team was 
in place. Admissions moved across and has worked well.

 Finance – the processing of finance is in a significantly better position. H&F 
inherited a difficult situation - the previous system had little transparency or 
openness. H&F's officers have got a handle on the situation and could start to 
correct it.

 Commissioning – all commissioning functions in Children's Services were 
moved to Public Services Reform. The department supported that move as 
the underlying problems that impact Children's Services (domestic violence, 
substance abuse, health, mental health etc.) need to be tackled across the 
whole organisation. Children's Services retains a strong link with 
commissioning through Sarah Bright (Assistant Director in Public Services 
Reform).

The Chair asked Steve Miley if he was confident the department was where it 
needed to be. He said they were – and there had been a number of positive 
changes. Headteachers particularly valued the change because officers now had 
closer links to our schools and a more personalised approach.

Councillor PJ Murphy asked if there was a concern that too much had gone into 
Public Services Reform. Were the expectations on the department unrealistic? Lisa 
Redfern said there were concerns initially but officers were constantly reviewing and 
refining. They took on Commercial and the work done by Sarah Bright and her team 
had been swift and robust. Management was aware of the need to balance bold 
ambitions with what can be delivered given the constraints.

6. BUSINESS INTELLIGENCE AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION UPDATE 

Sarah Bright (Assistant Director - Public Services Reform), Duncan Smith (Head of 
Business Intelligence), and Jonathan Skaife (Strategic Commissioner) presented the 
report that provides an overview of the Corporate Business Intelligence and 
Management Information functions.

Duncan Smith introduced himself and informed the Committee that the Business 
Intelligence team had generated over £5m of savings for the Council. In 2016 H&F 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

invested in new infrastructure to drive self-service and allow more advanced Artificial 
Intelligence and Machine Learning work. He added that the management information 
functions from Public Health, Social Care and Children's Services were now co-
located within the Business Intelligence team and there was an opportunity to bring 
them together as an integrated function. Currently around 80 percent of the team's 
capacity was spent servicing the performance reporting demand, and the remaining 
20 percent was spent on business intelligence work.

Business intelligence meant using processes like data-matching to identify fraud – or 
bringing together a number of data sets to predict behaviour and target resources 
more efficiently. There was also an increasing move to automate services – with 
pilots being carried out in Housing and Community Safety.

The Business Intelligence team were now looking at a pipeline of ideas – including 
tools to help make savings, products that would create income generation for the 
Council, and business tools like automating statutory returns.

Councillor Christabel Cooper asked if officers would rate Council departments as 
data-driven. Duncan Smith responded that some services were very data-driven and 
keen to innovate but there were other areas where there was less of a culture of 
improvement and innovation. For that reason, the team had produced a new 
Business Intelligence strategy and over the next six months would be holding 
workshops, training events, and seminars showing off the tools available and the 
business benefits of a data-driven approach.

Councillor Christabel Cooper commented that detailed management information was 
vital to effective contract management. Sarah Bright agreed and said that the team 
was looking into more meaningful monitoring of key performance indicators.

The Chair asked if the team were responsible for borough demographics data. 
Duncan Smith said the team had developed the borough profile and ward profiles 
would be available the in coming weeks. He added that the team was working on 
prototypes that brought together Council data with open data sets to provide a 
deeper picture.

The Chair asked if the team had worked with the Disabled People's Commission or 
disabled groups in the borough. Duncan Smith replied that the team had supported 
the work of all of the resident-led commissions.

RESOLVED
The Committee noted the report.

7. HR UPDATE - OUR PEOPLE STRATEGY AND IMPLEMENTATION OF A NEW 
HR AND PAYROLL SYSTEM 

Mark Grimley (Director of Corporate Services) presented the report on the Council's 
workforce strategy, Our People, and the implementation of the replacement of the 
BT Agresso HR and payroll system. He apologised for errors in the report and 
promised to circulate an updated version after the meeting.

ACTION: Mark Grimley

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Mark Grimley provided an overview of the workforce strategy and noted there were a 
number of challenges around turnover and vacancies. He also added that the wage 
bill was projected to increase significantly over the next three years – driven largely 
by commitments to pay the London Living Wage.

Councillor Guy Vincent asked for some context on the agency staffing figures. Did 
they cover sub-contractors or core staff – and how did the figures compare to other 
boroughs? Mark Grimley said the statistics only included directly employed staff 
within the Council. CIPFA benchmarking indicated that H&F had one of the highest 
turnover rates in London - and that had been relatively static for the last three years. 
There were a few reasons for this - partly it was due to uncertainty around the future 
of shared services, and it was also a very competitive area where staff could move 
outwards for career progression and inwards for salary increases. The amount of 
change had been unsettling too. The staff survey was out and should give officers 
more of an insight. Steve Miley added, from a Children's Services perspective, that 
location was a key factor. It was hard for staff to live in the borough due to high rents 
and property prices – so staff had long travel times and high travel costs. There were 
also some services that were very demanding and saw a higher turnover rate. Those 
negative factors had to be balanced with the advantages of working here – career 
development, the Council's values etc.

Councillor Guy Vincent asked if officers had similar figures for teachers and 
contractors (e.g. housing repairs). Were there similar patterns for those groups? 
Mark Grimley noted that offices had been working closely with teachers to build a 
new recruitment strategy. The Administration was committed to improving key 
worker housing and providing career development to teachers. Regarding contract 
staff like those from Amey and Mitie, officers were starting due diligence for work on 
the London Living Wage.

Councillor Christabel Cooper asked if the survey was repeated annually. Mark 
Grimley said it would be the first one since 2015. He took the decision not to do one 
last year because he didn’t think we'd made enough progress since the previous 
one. Management needed to pause, get an action plan together, and ensure it was 
followed through.

A trade union representative noted concern about the high turnover figure. They 
supported the survey and were keen to see the results and the resulting action plan 
to become an employer of choice.

Councillor PJ Murphy made the following points:
 Given the problems with commuting and living costs he expected the Council 

to be embracing more agile working practices and the use of technology to 
enable staff to work remotely.

 There was a perception that the Council underpaid staff relative to other areas 
– he asked what officers were doing to overcome this.

 17 percent turnover was a huge figure – he asked what the high turnover 
areas were within the organisation - and the demographic of staff who were 
leaving.

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Mark Grimley informed the Committee that agile working was part of the new IT 
strategy. The Council was investing in new laptops and mobile phones to allow staff 
to work more flexibly. This also enabled the decant from the Town Hall during the 
redevelopment. Regarding the perception of pay, H&F suffered by being next-door to 
RBKC and WCC. Regarding the turnover figure – the Council had an aging 
workforce and there was a very low intake of younger people. Officers were 
developing schemes to tackle this. HR were also looking at improving the employee 
experience.

Councillor Christabel Cooper asked if there were any differences in turnover figures 
between men and women. Mark Grimley said it wasn’t consistent. The Council did 
have a predominantly female workforce and tried to sell a ‘total family offer’.

Councillor Dominic Stanton asked officers to expand on 5.8 of the report that said 
H&F had a greater than expected proportion of formal procedures (disciplinary, 
grievances etc).

Mark Grimley explained that there was a disproportionate amount of grievances 
around review time. HR officers were encouraging early resolutions and providing 
managers with better coaching skills. The figures were partly due to the 
organisation’s risk appetite – when he joined there were 23 people on suspension for 
over 6 months. Now the Council had a rapid-response team to look at the plan to 
resolve these issues quickly. Mark now had to approve all suspensions personally. 
Following these interventions, just two people were on suspension.

Councillor PJ Murphy felt that suggested an issue with leadership in the 
organisation. Mark Grimley said there were some areas of really good practice but 
pockets of bad practice were skewing the results.

Councillor Guy Vincent asked about the new HR and payroll systems – could officers 
give assurances that the implementation would be smoother than BT Agresso? Mark 
Grimley reassured the Committee that officers had taken onboard the lessons 
learned from BT Agresso. There had been a comprehensive testing programme 
involving over 300 members of staff. Engagement with staff was far more 
comprehensive. The new system was already in use by a number of other authorities 
and pays around 68k public-sector employees each month. HR would be providing a 
lot of support on the go-live date and also provide three months of ‘hyper-care’ 
beyond that.

Councillor Guy Vincent asked how confident the Council was that BT were providing 
accurate data. Mark Grimley replied that data was the biggest risk to the project. 
Officers had done multiple dry runs – extracting and controlling the data. There were 
gaps and officers were doing their best to cleanse and update the data where 
necessary. The organisational structure had to be re-created from scratch.

Councillor Vincent asked if the Council had credit arrangements in place to cope with 
a payroll system failure. Mark Grimley said the arrangements were part of the 
Hampshire Partnership and contractual clauses such as penalties and credits didn’t 
apply within the Partnership. If there were performance issues these would be 
monitored, and any improvements made and funded through the Partnership model.

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Councillor Vincent asked what the cost of the new system was. Mark Grimley said it 
would cost £6m per year. This was around 10 percent more expensive than BT 
Agresso but for a much higher quality of service.

The Chair asked if the new service arrangements included pensions. Mark Grimley 
said the payments would be handled by the new system but pensions administration 
was carried out by Surrey County Council.

RESOLVED
The Committee noted the report.

Meeting started: 7.00 pm
Meeting ended: 9.05 pm

Chair

Contact officer: David Abbott
Scrutiny Manager
Governance and Scrutiny
: 020 8753 2063
E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk

Page 11



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham

Public Services Reform Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

29th January 2018
REFORMING SPECIALIST HOUSING

Report of the Cabinet Member for Public Service Reform - Councillor Adam 
Connell 
Open Report 

Classification - For Information 

Key Decision: No  

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Lisa Redfern, Strategic Director of Social Care and Public 
Service Reform

Report Author: Nick Kimber, Strategic 
Lead for Public Service Reform 

Contact Details:
Tel: 02087531203
E-mail: nick.kimber@lbhf.gov.uk

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This report provides an update on the Council’s approach to specialist 
housing. It summarises the December 2018 Cabinet report which set out the 
Council’s strategic ambition to reform the local authority’s investment, re-
focusing this towards prevention and recovery. It also sets out key activity 
over the next twelve months as the Council begins to operationalise this 
reformed approach. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. The Committee is requested to review and comment on the report. 

3. BACKGROUND 

3.1. Specialist Housing refers to a range of support provided to enable individuals 
to maintain an individual housing tenure. It ranges from support for clients 
who may expect to live in accommodation with support for long periods of 
time, to those who need short-term support to manage a crisis and recover to 
the point where they can live fully independently. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



3.2. Currently, the Council spends £11.5m from its revenue budget on 
commissioning community and voluntary sector care and support providers 
to provide housing management and care in 599 bed spaces across 69 
buildings. This provision supports six principal groups of residents:

 care leavers and young people; 
 residents with mental health conditions; 
 rough sleepers; 
 older people in extra care provision; 
 survivors of domestic abuse; and
 residents with learning disabilities

3.3. In December 2018, Cabinet agreed a report which set out the need to improve 
the impact of the Council’s investment in specialist housing, building on the 
Council’s historical commitment to this area.

3.4. The key principle informing this new approach is the need to provide the right 
home with the right support at the right time as the basis to improve outcomes 
for residents. This recognises the central role that housing plays in supporting 
people to maintain their autonomy, enabling them to stay in a home of their 
own, or recover from a crisis before living fully independently again. 

3.5. The Cabinet report set out a ‘case for change’ outlining where we are now; 
and an end state vision setting out where we want to be. These are 
summarised below:

Where we are now…the case for change

3.6. The principal challenges identified are around a commissioning approach 
which lacks flexibility, largely based around block contracts which lack 
responsiveness to residents’ needs. These do not provide the personalised 
approach necessary to enable residents to progress into fully independent 
living. This results in ‘bottlenecks’ in the system, outcomes that are not 
maximised, and there is then a reliance on expensive spot purchase of 
provision, often out of borough. The Cabinet report defined the following key 
challenges that the Council must address:

 Provision which is not co-produced, with residents not provided with the 
opportunity to work together with providers to shape the way services are 
provided;

 outmoded commissioning models, with large block contracts which do not 
provide personalised support, maximise autonomy for service users, or 
promote the best possible outcomes;

 mismatch of supply and demand, with not enough stock to match resident 
need and a lack of bespoke, fit for purpose property which impacts on the 
ability to deliver positive outcomes and achieve the best value for money; 

 fragmentation across the system, with fractures across the health and care 
system and a lack of joined up investment to support early intervention and 
prevention;  

Page 13



 lack of diversity in our provider market; an over reliance on historical models 
and the need to encourage a greater range of support and housing providers 
locally to stimulate innovation; and 

 lack of diversity in our offer, with limited opportunities for residents to exercise 
genuine choice over the type of accommodation or support

3.7. While the focus of change is rightly on improving outcomes, a key driver is 
how reform can help manage future demand for high cost services by 
intervening early. Demand for different types of support is now rising, with a 
projected growth in the need for long-term support for some groups such as 
residents with learning disabilities, and a clear trend for other groups such as 
care leavers, nationally and across London, to grow. 

Where we want to be…the End State Vision 

3.8. The over-riding objective for reformed investment will be a system built 
around the individual, with a focus on prevention and recovery, with the 
purpose of our offer being to support people to stay in their home, move 
back to their own home, or maintain an independent tenure in supported 
living. The key building blocks of this approach will include:

 more personalised models of support, with innovative use of approaches that 
will bring support to individuals in their own homes and give increased choice 
to residents.

 increased supply, utilising existing Council assets for specialist housing, re-
purposing land and buildings where there is a strong financial case, as well as 
enabling new building which can add to supply in the borough; 

 integrated assessment and referral, with rapid assessment and a highly 
coordinated cross-system offer to place people in the right accommodation at 
the right time; and

 the right products to step down to, with an offer which drives down reliance on 
out of borough placements and spot purchase, keeping families and 
communities together.  

3.9. Over the course of the next eighteen months, the work to deliver this vision 
will be taken forward through two key mechanisms: 

(a) The work of the new Specialist Housing Board, with renewed collective 
leadership across housing and social care to address fragmentation and 
ensure ongoing improvements to outcomes for residents; and 

(b) Strategic re-commissioning of key pathways, notably the care leavers and 
young people, rough sleeping, mental health recovery pathways; and 
transition to adulthood for people with complex needs.

4. SYSTEM REFORM 

Specialist Housing Board

Page 14



4.1. The Specialist Housing Board was established in the autumn of 2018, co-
chaired by the Strategic Director for Public Services Reform and Social Care, 
and the Assistant Director for Housing Management. The Board’s terms of 
reference established its purpose as:

 have as its overall objective: ‘the right home, with the right support, 
helping residents to achieve and maintain control over their lives’ 

 take forward [the approach] in partnership with residents, ensuring co-
production and collaborative re-design with citizens and frontline staff is 
at the heart of our approach 

 develop, agree and manage the Council’s long-term strategy for 
specialist housing as well as identifying short-term opportunities for 
improvements and efficiencies which require senior sponsorship and 
cross-Council collaboration to operationalise

4.2. The Board’s full terms of reference are provided at appendix A. This new 
governance provides a collective forum for leaders across the Council to 
come together to ensure a clear understanding of how our current approach is 
operating and where it needs improvement. 

4.3. The Board has a dual focus on strategic and operational issues, ensuring 
focus on service improvement as well as more fundamental reform of our 
approach. To date, the Board’s focus has been on crystallising our analysis of 
the current nature of support, and on building internal momentum around a 
case for change. The culmination of this was in the December Cabinet report 
which provides the strategic anchor for future work. 

4.4. The Board recognises that, in the past, there has not been enough 
collaboration across operational silos, reducing our ability to create positive 
impacts for residents. The Board has this change as a specific focus and has, 
for example, enabled a cross-departmental discussion on available stock. As 
a result, we’ve identified a six-bedroom HRA property which we’re reviewing 
as a potential site for a shared accommodation service for young people 
leaving care. There is little demand for this size of property through the 
general needs allocation scheme, but the property layout, feel and location is 
ideal for young people. In addition, it has the potential to deliver savings as 
the rent costs would be lower than current provision - initial scoping suggests 
about £110 per week per resident lower. 

4.5. Colleagues in Growth and Place are also working with commissioners to 
develop a new housing scheme at Emlyn Gardens which includes eight one-
bed properties for residents with learning disabilities within a wider 
development of fourteen flats. This has demonstrated the potential of the 
Council to use its land and property assets to help meet unmet need for high-
quality supported accommodation and built strong relationships across 
housing, social care, and planning. Some of the concrete benefits to residents 
include:

 individuals going through transition being able to remain in borough and 
not going out of borough to high cost placements, 

Page 15



 ‘move on’ opportunity for people within existing schemes to be more 
independent and have greater control over their care (consistent with 
Disabled People’s Commission findings)

 access to and choice of the right kind of housing 

4.6. The Board has also focused on data and insight, commissioning a programme 
of ‘deep dives’ which is helping to improve understanding of the current 
customer journey, quality, outcomes and costs. This provides a strong basis 
for making evidence-based decisions about policy and operational changes. 
To date deep dives have been completed covering care leavers and mental 
health. Future deep dives on learning disability and older people have been 
commissioned as part of the Board’s work programme for 2019.

4.7. The Board’s future programme will focus on the transition to a new 
commissioning model (set out below) as well as items covering core health 
and safety compliance, the role of the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG), and 
the relationship between tenancy failure and the specialist housing pathway.  

Strategic re-commissioning activity 

4.8. The December Cabinet report agreed to approve direct awards to providers to 
enable a consolidated strategic re-commissioning approach covering the care 
leavers and young people, rough sleeping, and mental health pathways. 
Going forward new models of accommodation and support will be 
commissioned from a much broader range of providers with experience of 
working with a wide range of needs. Initial scoping has indicated that the 
following range of accommodation and support services might better meet 
residents’ needs and will form part of pre-procurement market engagement:

Cohort Possible model Impact 
Care 
leavers 
and young 
people 

Housing led approach - moving young 
people out of supported housing/short 
term accommodation earlier and in to a 
permanent home in the community with 
a personalised ‘wrap-around’ support 
package. 

We expect a housing led 
approach to be 
particularly effective for 
young people who find it 
difficult living in shared 
accommodation settings 
or managing a tenancy.

Care 
leavers 
and young 
people 

Therapeutic High Support 
Accommodation Services – 
personalised support delivered by 
specialist staff for young people with 
complex needs, with access to 
therapeutic support packages delivered 
on site, for example, counselling, arts 
and creative therapies. 

A specialist in-borough 
service that can support 
young people with high 
risks and challenging 
behaviour is likely to 
improve outcomes for this 
‘hard to reach’ cohort, and 
help prevent crisis 
situations such as 
hospitalisation and 
homelessness.

Care 
leavers 

Supported Lodgings - young people 
are matched with an approved person or 

A supported lodgings 
placement is likely to 

Page 16



and young 
people 

family, who will provide a room in their 
home, company and, where needed, 
guidance.

provide a supportive 
environment for a young 
person to gain confidence 
and the life skills they 
need to live 
independently.

Transition 
and 
preparing 
for 
adulthood

Accommodation & Support – ranging 
from longer term to intensive short-term 
housing and support, providing suitable 
accommodation with the right support for 
people with complex needs and 
disabilities, with access to therapeutic 
and clinical services where necessary, 
and access to services and support in 
the community

Smoother step down for 
[and alternative option to] 
young people coming out 
of residential settings and 
secondary mental health 
services.  Greater 
independence and 
person-centred support

Transition 
and 
preparing 
for 
adulthood

Community & home support –a range 
of support in the community and in to 
people's homes, such as neighbourhood 
networks, floating support, resettlement 
into the community, day opportunities, 
advice and information sessions, one to 
one and group sessions
 

Preventing 
accommodation 
breakdown and 
deterioration of needs 
resulting in re-entering 
social care services or 
requiring greater and 
more costly interventions, 
by providing access to 
support in the community 
when needed.

Rough 
sleeping 

A co-ordinated pathway of high quality, 
short-term supported accommodation 
services to provide immediate relief from 
homelessness and rough sleeping and 
the right environment and personalised 
support for people with multiple needs 
and complex trauma.

Prevention of rough 
sleeping. Residents 
supported to reduce harm 
and risks to themselves 
and others; to develop the 
motivation and skills to 
reduce their social 
exclusion; and to prevent 
repeat homelessness and 
the use of crisis and 
emergency services.

Rough 
sleeping

Home not a hostel – providing a range 
of innovative and personalised move-on 
options and support packages e.g. 
Housing First, Navigators and flexible 
community support to ensure people 
move-on from short-term, emergency 
services to independent accommodation 
in the community which they can sustain 
and feel safe and enjoy.

In line with what residents 
have told us they want - 
residents moving on at 
the right time and into the 
right type of 
accommodation. 
Preventing repeat 
homelessness. Increased 
throughput in short-term 
services will deliver more 
cost-effective services; 
prevent the use of 
unsuitable temporary 

Page 17



accommodation and keep 
local residents in the 
borough.

Rough 
sleeping

Wrap-around support services – in 
partnership with the NHS; Police; 
Probation; voluntary sector; substance 
misuse services; faith groups and the 
private sector encourage partners to 
develop a range of wrap-around services 
to meet homeless people’s needs and 
support the objectives of specialist 
housing services for rough sleepers.

Integrated, joined-up, 
holistic services that 
address all aspects of a 
homeless person life; 
delivering better and more 
sustainable outcomes and 
improve value for money. 

Mental 
health 
recovery

Rapid access to support – enhanced 
floating support and peer support offered 
to those moving out of pathway 

Better sustainment of 
tenancy alongside 
improved mental health 

Mental 
health 
recovery

Wrap-around support with clinical 
input -  intensive service with clinical 
care & support to support complex 
needs, dual diagnosis, autism, and 
forensic histories

Improved, holistic support 
combining specialist 
housing and clinical care 
to enable more rapid and 
sustainable recovery 

4.9. Officers will present further reports setting out full procurement strategies and 
strategic business cases to Cabinet in April. This will enable a procurement 
exercise to be launched in May 2019, with a view to contract award in October 
and service commencement in April 2020. Work is underway to review 
existing provision and develop new approaches, including engagement with 
providers to understand how the market can help meet the Council’s strategic 
ambitions around personalised support.

4.10. Significant progress has been made on the overall procurement mechanism. 
Officers are currently developing detailed planning for a Dynamic Purchasing 
System (DPS). An adapted DPS, known as Care Plus +, will provide a 
purchasing mechanism which helps to meet the principles of personalised, 
recovery focused support established in December’s Cabinet report. The 
approach is designed to stimulate new relationships with a greater range of 
potential providers, and to enable greater flexibility, rather than through 
periodic commissioning exercises that lock us, and our partners, into models 
which may no longer respond to residents' need. 

5. RISK AND ISSUES 

5.1. There are a number of identified risks in delivering on the Council’s refreshed 
vision for Specialist Housing. As well as the risks inherent to a process of 
substantial re-commissioning, there are range of challenges which the 
delivery team and Specialist Housing Board are seeking to actively manage. 
These are set out below:

Page 18



Strategic risk Impact Mitigation 
Failure to secure a sufficient 
supply of high-quality 
accommodation

Lack of overall 
supply, and supply 
which supports 
outcomes 
(accessible, designed 
or adapted to support 
needs of residents 
etc) leads to poor 
outcome and 
increased costs to the 
Council

 Engagement with 
RSLs to establish 
dialogue about 
investment and 
repairs

 Working group on 
future demand, and 
supply from within 
turnover of the 
Council’s own 
assets

 Seek to leverage 
Council’s land and 
property assets for 
development of 
specialist housing

Failure to engage new 
providers capable of driving 
innovative

Lack of innovation 
and missed 
opportunity to 
improve outcomes in 
line with aspirations 
around co-production 
and personalisation

 Comprehensive 
supplier 
engagement

 Compelling vision 
articulated through 
December Cabinet 
report, setting 
market expectations 
and attracting 
leading edge 
providers 

 Procurement 
innovation to 
encourage range of 
providers, including 
SMEs and VCS 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

 “Reform of Specialist Housing” – Report of Cabinet Member for Specialist 
Housing to Cabinet, December 2018

LIST OF APPENDICES:

Appendix A - Terms of Reference for the Specialist Housing Board

Page 19



Appendix A – Terms of Reference for the Specialist Housing Board 

The Board will meet on a six-weekly basis:

• It will be co-chaired by Lisa Redfern (Strategic Director of 
Social Care and PSR) and Glendine Shepherd (Assistant 
Director, Housing Management)

• The Board will have a mixed governance model, with a Cllr 
Quigley attending as a full member 

The purpose of the Board would be to:

• have as our overall objective: ‘the right home, with the right 
support, helping residents to achieve and maintain control 
over their lives’ 

• take forward in partnership with residents, ensuring co-
production and collaborative re-design with citizens and 
frontline staff is at the heart of our approach, taking a lead 
from the Disabled People’s Commission findings

• develop, agree and manage the Council’s long-term strategy 
for specialist housing as well as identifying short-term 
opportunities for improvements and efficiencies which 
require senior sponsorship and cross-Council collaboration 
to operationalise 

• the key principle informing the approach will be to build 
services around the individual, re-imagining housing as a 
preventative service, preventing but also supporting recovery 
and a return to independence as a way of preventing on-flow 
to higher cost services

• take a whole-system approach, seeking to reduce costs to 
the whole of local public services e.g. unplanned admissions, 
DTOC etc  

• aim to reduce reliance on spot purchase, improve referral 
mechanisms, and understand and address drivers for 
placement breakdown 

• aim to develop innovative models of support across different 
pathways from homelessness (Housing First) to extra care 
(flexicare models)

• understand long-term demand and supply for specialist 
housing, leverage the development activity and capital 
funding to invest in accommodation that will reduce long-
term costs to the Council

• consider disabled residents’ housing needs and how these 
can support objectives around independence and autonomy

• Ensure there is a read across to the work of the Preparing for 
Adulthood Board, with issues of transitions and early 
planning considered as part of the housing pathway 

• consider best use our overall asset base, whether Council 
owned or delivered by Registered Providers

• will achieve a better understanding of demand for housing by 
customer segments, market for housing products and 
innovation, and the potential supply through planning 
development pipeline

• focus on data, evidence and insight, ensuring that we are 
making the best possible decisions for the long-term

Page 20



• act as primary governance for the Disabled People and 
Older People’s Housing Strategy

• seek assurance that all accommodation is safe, and 
compliant with all relevant legislation and best practice 
regarding health and safety   

The Board’s remit will include mental health, learning disabilities, care leavers and 
young people at risk, victims of domestic violence and abuse, homelessness and 
extra care.

Page 21



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham

PUBLIC SERVICES REFORM
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

29 January 2018
CUSTOMER CARE AND COMPLAINTS

Report of the Strategic Director for Residents’ Services – Sharon Lea

Open Report 

Classification: For Review and Comment
Key Decision: No

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Sharon Lea, Strategic Director, Residents’ Service

Report Author:
Karen Sullivan, Assistant Director, 
Residents’ Service

Contact Details:
Email: Karen.Sullivan@lbhf.gov.uk 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report introduces the council approach to the way staff respond into and 
support residents with their contacts to the organisation. The report provides 
an overview of complaints, what the InTouch and Customer Relationship 
Teams do, recent performance, key findings and plans for future 
improvements. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. The committee is requested to review and comment on the contents of the 
report.

3. CUSTOMER CARE AND COMPLAINTS 

Background

3.1. All services in the council provide customer care through their work with 
residents to develop, provide and review services and in how they respond 
both at the first point of contact and in their ongoing relationship with local 
people. Resident Services Directorate leads on the customer care approach 

Page 22

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Karen.Sullivan@lbhf.gov.uk


for the council with a range of different initiatives delivered by different 
directorates.

3.2. To date the council has sought to enhance customer care through many of its 
programmes and projects ensuring that we work with residents to provide the 
best services possible. Examples include work on coproduction, resident 
commissions, improvements to information, advice and guidance, digital 
inclusion work on estates, and new business processes to enhance the 
responsiveness to residents’. Complaints are managed by the InTouch team 
& Customer Relationship team and provide an indication of how well the 
council delivers on customer care and responsiveness. 

3.3. Handling complaints, Corporate & Statutory, and Requests for 
Information:
The PAC has requested more in-depth information about complaints. 
Complaints, both corporate and statutory, Members enquiries, Freedom of 
Information, Subject Access requests and Disclosure Requests are recorded 
and managed by the corporate complaints team (H&F InTouch) and the 
Customer Relationship team.

3.3.1 InTouch team:
Stage 1 complaints and Members enquiries are considered and responded to 
by the service area that the issue relates to. If the Resident is unhappy with 
the response they receive they can escalate to a Stage 2. The team provide 
weekly status reports to departments, showing due dates and highlighting any 
overdue cases.

All stage 2 requests are investigated independently of the service area, by 
Senior Investigation officers within the InTouch team. In December 2018 we 
introduced a new sign off process; where Directors or their appointed deputies 
are sent the stage two response for sign off, transparency and service 
improvement.  

Freedom of Information requests (FOIs) and Subjects Access Requests 
(SARs) are also managed and coordinated by the InTouch team.

Current YTD figures for all areas for the Intouch team are: 

Contact Type Timeline Cases received
Stage 1  15 working days 1924
Stage 2 20 working days 219
Cabinet member enquiry  3 working days 3674
Members /or MP enquiry  8 working days 1477
FOI and SARs Statutory deadlines 168

3.3.2 Customer Relationship Team:
The team deal with all statutory complaints, Subject Access Requests (SARs) 
and Disclosure Requests – this covers all Adult Social Care and Children’s 
Services. These areas operate under statutory targets.

Page 23



Current YTD figures for all areas for the Customer Relationship team are:

Statutory Complaint Case Type Cases received 
Stage 1 18
Stage 2 0
Stage 3 0
Withdrawn Cases 2
Subject Access Requests 39
Disclosure Requests 280

3.3.3 Ombudsman enquiries:

All Ombudsman enquiries and requests for information are monitored, 
requested and collated for responses to the Ombudsman by the InTouch 
team.

All Ombudsman determinations and recommendations are also monitored 
and discussed with departments. Evidence is collated and sent to the 
ombudsman to show compliance and resolution. The ombudsman has been 
approached by 44 residents’ this year and taken on 14 cases, of which 11 
cases have been upheld. This represents less than 1% of overall stage 1 
complaints.

3.4. Performance trends

A significant amount of work has been undertaken to bring the service up to 
date, reducing the backlogs and improving overall performance.
The aim is to change the culture from reactive to proactive – which will 
improve engagement with the resident and the timeliness of responses.

Performance is monitored by the Assistant Director at weekly operational 
meetings and regular escalation reports to departments and we have 
established regular meetings with departments (i.e. Growth & Place). This 
has seen an improvement on performance and a significant reduction in 
overdue cases for example:  overdue member’s enquiries reducing from 98 
in October 2018 to 46 in December 2018 and stage 2 from 37 in October 
2018 to 8 in December 2018.

3.5. Key findings

 A new, well qualified team manager for complaints with considerable 
experience of improving the organisations approach and management of 
enquiries and complaints.

 Reviewing reports to ensure they give us a more accurate picture of root 
cause and service improvement.

 Creation of an action plan to ensure a Quality Assurance model. Action 
areas include quality checking, developing training, guidance and 
ensuring tools, such as Better Letters are being embedded.

Page 24



 In Dec 2018 a sign-off process for stage 2 complaints was introduced for 
senior officers – Directors or their delegated officers.

 Rewriting a Council wide policy and guidance slides for staff to be able to 
process and complete SARs. The information management team (IMT) 
will be implementing this across the services

 Weekly status reports are now sent to departments on outstanding 
Member enquiries, stage 1 and FOI/SARS ensuring transparency and 
escalation.

In November 2018 a visit from the Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman validated the Council’s approach and reported no major 
concerns.

4. FUTURE PLANS

Future operating model for enquiries, requests and complaints
4.1 Recognising the performance trends and key findings about complaints, 

requests for information and enquiries; recommendations for an improved 
operating model are being developed. The recommendations will highlight 
and seek improvement across a number of areas including: engagement with 
residents, policy, improved processes, governance and overall performance. 
Work on this operating model is one pillar of a wider piece of work on 
improving customer care to residents at the first point of contact. 

Resident contact
4.2 Recognising the importance of good customer care with residents and 

learning from key findings to date, a draft vision for improving the way 
residents access Council services has been developed alongside an outline 
business case for underpinning these improvements. The vision is for a better, 
more consistent, high quality experience for our residents. This work offers 
opportunities for cross council focus on customer care in line with council 
priorities.

Face to face provision 
4.1. As part of the Decant there is work underway to shape the face to face 

provision at 145 King Street incorporating further services presently provided 
at the Town Hall Extension. The design principles for this space were 
originally developed with residents and are now being validated to inform 
improvements to the space and ways of working collectively in this space in 
future. Customer journey mapping took place with residents in November and 
December to ensuring their needs are fully represented in the redesign.

Conclusion
These plans form the basis of our approach to addressing the customer care 
to residents and complaints findings to date as a council. 

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT
None.

Page 25



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham

PUBLIC SERVICES REFORM
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

29 January 2018
2019 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services – 
Councillor Max Schmid

Open Report 

Classification: For Review and Comment
Key Decision: No

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Director for Finance & 
Governance

Report Authors: 
Corporate Overview 
Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Director, 
Finance and Governance
Emily Hill – Assistant Director, 
Corporate Finance
Department
Danielle Wragg - Finance Business 
Partner

Contact Details:
Tel: 020 8753 3145
E-mail: emily.hill@lbhf.gov.uk

Tel: 020 8753 4287
E-mail: danielle.wragg@lbhf.gov.uk

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. Cabinet will present their revenue budget and council tax proposals to 
Budget Council on 27th February 2019. A balanced budget will be set in 
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

1.2. This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered by this 
Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC). An update is also provided on 
any proposed changes in fees and charges.

1.3. The council is entering into the 10th year of government-imposed austerity. 
This year’s reduction in government investment is £3.5m, meaning a total 
reduction of £73m (a real terms reduction of 59% from government).    

Page 26

Agenda Item 6

mailto:danielle.wragg@lbhf.gov.uk


1.4. Government resource assumptions, that are used to calculate Government 
grant for the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham (LBHF), model the 
Council increasing council tax by 3% in 2019/20.  Council Tax has not 
increased in LBHF in recent years and was last reduced in 2015/16, bringing 
it to its lowest level since 2002/03.  Over the last four years the Band D 
charge of £727.81 has reduced by 8.4% in real terms and is 34% lower than 
the London average of £1,112. 

1.5. The government has modelled an adult social care precept since 2016/17. 
Government funding modelling assumes that this has been applied despite 
LBHF choosing not to apply it over recent budgets. Due to the continued 
high levels of inflation in the social care market and the Government’s 
continued failure to propose a long-term funding solution to social care 
funding, for the first time the Council proposes to allow 2% of the 
government’s adult social care levy for 2019/20. This compares to the 8% 
precept assumed, by the government, over the four years to 2019/20.    

1.6. In accordance with the administration’s policy of keeping the council tax low 
while protecting and improving services, the Council’s budgeted council tax 
increase is restricted to an inflationary increase of 2.7%. This is pegged to 
the August 2018 increase in the Consumer Price Index and below the August 
Retail Price Index increase of 3.5%.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That the Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC) considers the budget 
proposals and makes recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate.

2.2. That the PAC considers the proposed changes to fees and charges and 
makes recommendations as appropriate. 

3. THE BUDGET GAP

3.1. The 2018/19 gross General Fund budget1 is £560m of which the net budget 
requirement of £151.8m is funded from council resources (such as council 
tax and business rates) and general government grant.

1 Figures exclude capital charges and internal service level agreements. These have a net nil impact 
on the budget.

Page 27



Table 1 - 2018/19 Budget requirement 

Budgeted Expenditure £’m
Housing Benefit Payments 145
Departmental Budgets 415
Gross Budgeted Expenditure 560
Less:
Specific Government Grant (including housing 
benefits and dedicated schools grant)

(272)

Fees and charges (65)
Contributions (e.g. health, other boroughs) (49)
Other Income (e.g. investment interest, 
recharges to the Housing Revenue Account)

(22.2)

Net Budget Requirement 151.8

3.2. For 2019/20 the forecast budget gap, before savings, is £10.3m, rising to 
£48.6m by 2022/23. The budget is based on several key assumptions 
regarding resources and expenditure.

Table 2 - Budget Gap Before Savings 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 £’m £’m £’m £’m
Base Budget 151.8 151.8 151.8 151.8
Add:     
- Cumulative Inflation (includes 
pay) 3.0 8.2 13.4 18.6

- Cumulative headroom 0.0 6.0 12.0 18.0
- Growth 10.8 10.7 10.4 10.4
Budgeted Expenditure 165.6 176.7 187.6 198.8
Less:     
- Government Resources (15.2) (10.4) (9.9) (9.4)
- Business Rates (74.2) (75.6) (77.1) (78.6)
-  Forecast 2018/19 100% 
Business Rates Growth Pilot 
Surplus

(2.0)

Council Tax & Collection Fund 
Surplus (59.4) (59.8) (60.4) (61.0)

Adult Social Care Precept (1.2) (1.2) (1.2) (1.2)
- Use of Developer 
Contributions (3.3) * (3.3) * 0.0 0.0

Budgeted Resources (155.3) (150.3) (148.6) (150.2)
Cumulative Budget Gap 
Before Savings 10.3 26.4 39.0 48.6

* The Base Budget also includes funding of £1.7m from developer contributions for enhanced policing. 

Page 28



Budget Assumptions

3.3. Grant funding has been cut in each year since 2010/11. The total reduction 
since April 2010 to April 2019 has been £73m. This is a cash terms reduction 
of 47% and real terms reduction of 59%. Funding is forecast to reduce by a 
further 5% per annum from 2020/21 onwards with no continuation of new 
one-off funding of £4m received in 2019/20.   

3.4. An adult social care precept of 2% is modelled for 2019/20. This will 
generate additional income of £4.6m over 4 years and £1.15m in the first 
year. The Council is committed to use such funding to support adult social 
care. The 2019/20 budget proposals include provision of £4.1m for adult 
social care spend pressures and inflation. Part of these pressures will be met 
from increased better care funding grant of £1.8m and winter pressures grant 
of £0.9m. 

3.5. An inflationary Council Tax increase of 2.7% is modelled for 2019/20. A 
2.7% increase will generate additional income of £6.3m over 4 years and 
£1.56m in the first year. This will add £19.65 per annum (5.4p per day) to 
the Band D Council tax charge. Council tax will remain the third lowest in 
the country. 

3.6. The business rates system will change for a third successive year.  A 
rates revaluation in 2017/18 was followed by a pilot 100% rates retention 
scheme (for any growth in business) for London in 2018/19. Government has 
decided to reduce this to a 75% retention pilot in 2019/20.  

Table 3 – Business Rates Retention Scheme

Proportion of Rates Income
Business Rates Retained: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Hammersmith & Fulham 30% 67% 48%
Greater London Authority (GLA) 37% 33% 27%
Government 33% 0 25%

100% 100% 100%

3.7. London Local Government worked to take forward a 100% business rates 
retention pilot for London from April 2018. This pools business rates across 
the 33 London Boroughs and GLA. Under this arrangement London keeps 
100% of any growth in business rates, though business rates valuations 
and levels are still set by Government. Updated mid-year modelling 
identifies a one-off benefit to LBHF of £2.0m from the pool and this is 
included in 2019/20 forecast resources.  Final figures will be confirmed in 
September 2019.  

3.8 For 2019/20 the government has ended the 100% pilot. London Local 
Government has negotiated a new pilot however the imposition by Central 
government of a 75% pilot will reduce the benefits to the London Boroughs 
and GLA. Indicative modelling suggests a one-off benefit for LBHF of £1.2m. 
This modelling is based on an aggregation of high level estimates and before 

Page 29



Boroughs have submitted detailed 2019/20 figures. The actual benefit will 
not be confirmed until September 2020. This sum is not taken account of 
within the 2019/20 budgeted resources.

3.9 Under the 75% pilot LBHF potentially receives a share of London’s future 
business growth. The pilot arrangements also require compensating 
adjustments in other funding streams. 

Table 4: Changes to 2019/20 Funding Streams from the 75% Business 
Rates Pilot

 
No-
Pilot

With 
Pilot

Business Rates Baseline 76.9 123.0
Tariff payable to the 
Government 16.1 45.0
Funding Baseline 60.9 78.0
Revenue Support Grant 17.1 0
Total LBHF Funding 78.0 78.0

Safety net threshold 73.4 74.1

3.10 Table 4 sets out the sum assumed (£78.0m) by the Government in the 
2019 Local Government Finance Settlement. In recent years the Council 
has received less than the assumed sum of business rates due to the 
impact of rating appeals. A safety net threshold is set which guarantees a 
minimum income to the Council. A further advantage of the pilot is that this 
threshold is set at a higher level (by £0.7m). 

3.11 An updated forecast for business rates will be carried out by all boroughs in 
January 2019. This will provide greater clarity on the LBHF estimate and the 
potential benefits from the pilot pool arrangements. 

3.12 The Government are undertaking a ‘fair funding’ review which will inform 
the 2020/21 Local Government Finance Settlement. This will impact on how 
grant and business rates are distributed between authorities. A Green paper 
is also due on the longer-term funding for adult social care. These changes, 
combined with current economic uncertainty, add significant risk to the 
funding forecast beyond 2019/20.   

3.13 Planning obligations under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended), known as s.106 agreements, are a mechanism which make a 
development proposal acceptable in planning terms, that would not otherwise be 
acceptable. They are focused on site specific mitigation of the impact of 
development. Property developments have placed increased pressure on council 
services in recent years. 

3.14 Legal tests governing the use of s.106 agreements are set out in regulation 122 
and 123 of the CIL Regulations 2010 as amended. The tests are:

Page 30



 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
 Directly related to the development; and
 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

3.15 Local planning authorities are required to use the funding in accordance with the 
terms of the individual planning obligation legal agreement. This will ensure new 
developments are acceptable; benefit local communities and support the provision 
of local infrastructure. In LBHF there are three broad categories of s.106 
contributions received:
 for a specific purpose defined and described in the s.106 agreement (such as 

specific highway works)
 for a general functional purpose defined and described in the s.106 

agreement but with geographical constraints (such as provision of community 
infrastructure in the White City area)

 for a general purpose defined and described in the s.106 agreement but with 
no borough geographical constraints (such as economic development, 
education purposes, community safety initiatives etc).

3.16 Provided the Council respects the obligation to maintain a reasonable relationship 
with the developments and complies with the specific terms of each of the s.106 
agreements giving rise to the funds, the Council has a degree of discretion as to 
how it allocates and spends some of the general purpose funds.  The council has 
analysed all its s.106 agreements to determine funds with general purposes that 
can be considered for budgeting purposes.  As is usual in these circumstances, 
many areas of Council activity that have faced increased demand following new 
developments offer a good fit with the purposes of some of the uncommitted s.106 
funds which can therefore be lawfully used to finance such activities.  

3.17 The 2019/20 budget assumes that £3.3m of expenditure will be funded from 
s.106 resources. In addition, contributions of £1.7m per annum are assumed 
towards the provision of enhanced policing. The Council has considered the level 
of general purposes funds available and has forecast s.106 receipts in hand at 
the end of 2018/19 of £11m. After estimating future receipts and commitments, 
including 2019/20 budget commitments, £9.6m is forecast to be in hand at the 
end of 2019/20. The forecasts are based on assumptions around implementation 
and completion of planning applications, as approved, the expected time of 
developments commencing and reaching trigger points. Looking further ahead, 
the level of uncertainty around trigger points increases and forecasts are less 
certain.

3.18 Inflation. A pay award of 2% per annum has been modelled. Inflation has also 
been provided, on a case by case basis, to meet contractual requirements.

4. GROWTH, SAVINGS AND RISKS

4.1 The growth and savings proposals for the services covered by this PAC are set 
out in Appendix 1 with budget risks set out in Appendix 2.

Page 31



Growth

4.2 Budget growth is summarised by Service Area in Table 5. 

Table 5: 2019/20 Growth Proposals

Service Area £’m

Children's Services 3.3
Growth & Place 0.1
Public Services Reform 2.6
Social Care 3.6
Council Wide 0.7
Zero Based Budgeting and Service Redesign 0.5

Total 10.8

Savings

4.3 The Council faces a continuing financial challenge due to overall Central 
Government funding cuts, unfunded burdens, inflation, and demand and 
growth pressures. The budget gap will increase in each of the next three 
years if no action is taken to reduce expenditure, generate more income 
through commercial revenue or continue to grow the number of dwellings 
and businesses in the borough.

4.4 To close the budget gap for 2019/20, savings (including additional income) 
of £10.3m are proposed. 

Table 6: 2019/20 Savings and Additional Income

Service Area £’m
Children's Services (1.3)
Corporate Services (0.3)
Finance & Governance (1.6)
Growth & Place (0.8)
Public Services Reform (0.8)
Residents' Services (2.4)
Social Care (3.1)

Savings (10.3)

 4.5 The saving proposals are categorised by savings area in Table 7.

Page 32



Table 7: Categorisation of Savings and Additional Income

2018/19
£’m

2019/20
£’m

Business Intelligence (0.4) 0.0
Budgets realigned with spend and income (0.2) (1.8)
Commercialisation (3.4) (0.5)
Estate Rationalisation (0.1) 0.0
Income (0.5) (0.1)
Outside investment secured (0.1) 0.0
Prevention (1.6) 0.0
Procurement / Commissioning (5.1) (1.6)
Service reconfiguration (3.1) (4.1)
Staffing / Productivity (0.9) (2.2)
Total All Savings (15.4) (10.3)

Budget Risk and Reserves

4.6 The Council’s General Fund gross budget is £560m. Within a budget of this 
magnitude there are inevitably areas of risk and uncertainty particularly within 
the current challenging financial environment. The key financial risks that face 
the Council have been identified and quantified. They total £26m. Financial 
risks of £19.5m were identified when the 2018/19 Budget was set.

4.7 The level of balances and reserves are examined each year in light of the 
medium-term opportunities and risks facing the authority. The latest reserves 
forecast to 2021/22 assuming no overspends is set out in Table 8.

Table 8:  Reserves Forecast to 2021/22

 Opening 
balance 

Budgeted 
contributions 

to 2021/22
Commitments 

to 2021/22 Total
£m £m £m £m

Earmarked reserves (79.146) (7.691) 50.267 (36.570)
King Street Decant Costs 27.300
Estimated profit from JV (11.100)
Forecast earmarked 
reserves (20.370)

General balances (19.004)
Earmarked restricted 
reserves (15.583)

Total reserves (54.957)

Page 33



4.8 The existing commitments include:

 The planned investment of earmarked reserves on council priorities (for 
example implementing the IT strategy, incentive payments to landlords 
or managed services implementation). 

 Prudently setting aside amounts to protect against budgetary risks such 
as the £14m regarding the forecast shortfall in Dedicated Schools Grant 
for the High Needs Block.

 The existing commitments include £5.4m of planned invest to save 
investment. The Council is considering capitalising such expenditure in 
accordance with a Government Regulation on the flexible use of capital 
receipts. Should such expenditure be capitalised the forecast balance 
of reserves will increase.

4.9 Funding for pupils with high needs is provided through Dedicated Schools 
Grant from government.  A recent children’s services finance survey showed 
that London boroughs were spending £78m more than their high needs grant 
allocation, with 32 out of 33 boroughs reporting a shortfall. For LBHF the 
cumulative shortfall in funding is forecast to be £14.2m by the close of 
2018/19. The Council is developing options for a deficit recovery plan and 
has contacted the government to discuss funding levels. It is also discussing 
how this should be treated on the Council’s Balance sheet following a 
consultation by the Education Funding Agency. Pending further clarification, 
the Council has set aside a reserve to cover the potential deficit.

4.10 Looking to the future an anticipated use of reserves is a planned investment 
of £27.3m in the King Street West Regeneration project with a forecast profit 
of £11.1m coming back to the Council from the proposed Joint Venture 
profits. This scheme will be considered at Full Council on 23 January 2019. 
The Council will benefit from efficiencies in delivering modern, inclusively 
designed and fit-for-purpose office and civic accommodation for its staff and 
visitors, as well as for small and start-up businesses. It also avoids the need 
for significant capital investment in the existing Town Hall and Town Hall 
Extension, which in 2017 was estimated at between £29.2 million and £53.5 
million for both buildings, depending on the extent of refurbishment works 
undertaken. These figures exclude professional fees (estimated to be at 
least £2million to tender stage) and the cost of decanting staff to allow works 
to take place.

4.11 Maintaining reserves and balances at an adequate level is essential to the 
future financial resilience of the Council. For example, an overspend of 
£4.9m is forecast in the month 6 Corporate Revenue Monitor. This will be a 
further call on reserves unless the overspend is tackled by year-end. 

4.12 Reserves can only be spent once. The forecast to 2021/22 identifies a 
tightening in the Council’s finances that will need careful management and 
review. Continued focus will be required on keeping spend within budget and 
avoiding the use reserves to balance future budgets and rebuilding reserves 
for future investments.

Page 34



5 FEES AND CHARGES

5.1 The budget strategy assumes:
 Social Care charges frozen
 A standard uplift of 3.5% based on the August 2018 Retail Price Index for 

other charges
 Case by case review for commercial services that are charged on a for-

profit basis. These will be varied up and down in response to market 
conditions, with relevant Member approval. 

5.2 The exceptions for this Committee are attached in Appendix 4.

6 2019/20 COUNCIL TAX LEVELS

6.1 The administration proposes to increase the Hammersmith and Fulham 
element of 2019/20 Council Tax in line with inflation, by 2.7%.  A 2.7% 
increase will generate additional income of £6.3m over 4 years and annual 
income of £1.56m and will add £19.65 per annum (5.4p per day) to the Band 
D Council tax charge. As set out below, 52% of dwellings are liable for 100% 
council tax with exemptions/discounts for Council Tax Support claimants, 
students, care leavers and single person households.

Table 9:  Liability for Council Tax

Total dwellings in the borough 88,700
Reductions:

Exemptions (mainly students, includes care leavers) (3,600)

Council tax support claimants (elderly & working age on low 
income)

(11,200)

Single person discount (25% discount) (28,200)

Dwellings liable for 100% of Council tax 45,700
52%

6.2 An adult social care precept levy of 2% is budgeted for 2019/20 with a 
freeze in future years. This will generate additional income of £4.6m over 4 
years and £1.15m in 2019/20. This will increase the Band D Council Tax 
charge by £14.55 (4p per day). 

6.3 The Mayor of London’s draft budget is currently out for consultation and is 
due to be presented to the London Assembly on 24 January 2019, with final 
confirmation of precepts on 25 February. The current Band D precept is 
£294.23.

6.4 The change to the LBHF Band D charge is set out in Table 10. The current 
LBHF Band D charge of £727.81 is 34% lower than the London average of 

Page 35



£1,112. The overall Band D charge, including the GLA precept, is the third 
lowest in the country.

Table 10: LBHF Band D Council Tax Charge

2018/19 LBHF Band D charge £727.81
Proposed 2019/20 Increase of 2.7% £19.65
Proposed 2% Adult Social Care precept £14.55
2019/20 Total LBHF Band D charge £762.01

7. Comments of the Director for Public Services Reform on the Budget 
Proposals 

7.1. The newly formed Public Services Reform department is proposing a net 
budget before capital and corporately managed budgets of £10.661m. Within 
Public Services Reform in addition to some specific commissioning budgets, 
there are services which support frontline council business. As such £6.371m 
of the controllable budget is expected to be recovered through corporate 
recharges (Table 11).

Table 11 – Public Services Reform Budget 2019/20

Section Expenditure
£000

Income
£000

Total
£000

Social Care Commissioning 6,678 (2,102) 4,576
Family Support Service 4,345 (789) 3,556
Community Investment 3,319 (34) 3,285
PSR Core Business 1,368 (158) 1,210
Childrens’ Commissioning 859 (224) 635
Business Intelligence 537 (15) 522
Policy and Strategy 474 (53) 421
Procurement 396 (1,522) (1,126)
Commercial & Advertising Hoardings 299 (2,719) (2,419)
Total Budget before Capital and 
Corporately Managed budgets 18,276 (7,615) 10,661
Corporately Managed 328 (6,371) (6,044)
Total Capital & Corporately 
Managed Budgets 328 (6,371) (6,044)
Total Public Services Reform 
Budgets 18,604 (13,986) 4,617

7.2. The Public Services Reform department is proposing savings of £0.756m in 
2019/20. These will be delivered through service rationalisation (£0.500m) and 
commissioning (£0.256m).

Page 36



7.3. Growth of £2.6m is proposed for 2019/20. This growth will be used to realign 
income targets to ensure this reflects future plans for commercial income.

8. Comments of the Director for Corporate Services on the Budget 
Proposals

8.1. Corporate Services is proposing a net budget before capital and corporately 
managed budgets of £3.968m. Within Corporate Services, the services largely 
support frontline council business. As such £4.032m of the controllable budget 
is expected to be recovered through corporate recharges (Table 12).

Table 12 - Corporate Services Budget 2019/20

Section Expenditure
£000

Income
£000

Total
£000

Human Resources and Organisational 
Development 2,561 (422) 2,139
Communications 1,606 (1,235) 371
Executive Services 755 0 755
PMO 550 0 550
Leader's Office 154 0 154
Total Budget before Capital and 
Corporately Managed budgets 5,625 (1,657) 3,968
Corporate Overheads 327 (4,032) (3,706)
Total Capital & Corporately Managed 
Budgets 327 (4,032) (3,706)
Total Corporate Services Budgets 5,951 (5,689) 262

8.2. The Corporate Services department is proposing savings of £0.336m in 
2019/20. These will be delivered through service rationalisation (£0.196m), 
commercialisation (£0.085m) and commissioning (£0.045m). 

9. Equality Implications

9.1. A draft Equality Impact Analysis (EIA), which assesses the impacts on equality 
of the main items in the budget proposals relevant to this PAC, is attached as 
Appendix 3. A final EIA will be reported to Budget Council.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

None.

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Savings and Growth Proposals
Appendix 2 – Risks
Appendix 3 – Draft Equality Impact Assessment

Page 37



page 1of 2 Appendix 1 - PSR MTFS Savings and Growth Proposals

Public Services Reform

Financial Strategy Growth

Service Description

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Business Intelligence team 1,882 1,882 1,882 1,882

Joint Venture budget realignment 600 600 600 600

Advertising Hoardings Income budget reallignment 646 646 646 646

Residual income target for the above (500) (500) (500) (500)

2,628 2,628 2,628 2,628

Financial Strategy Savings

Service Description

Delivery 

Risk 

(H-M-L) 

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

 Public Service Reform Departmental Restructure Medium (500) (500) (500) (500)

 Adult Homelessness
Moving homeless residents from short-term hostel at Wood Lane into 

alternative provision
Low (186) (186) (186) (186)

 Older People
End of contract at Bishops Creighton House, with provision provided instead in 

sheltered housing and other community provision
Low (70) (70) (70) (70)

(756) (756) (756) (756)

Budget Change

Total Growth

Budget Change

Savings

Total Savings

P
age 38



page 2of 2 Appendix 1 - PSR MTFS Savings and Growth Proposals

Corporate Services

Financial Strategy Savings

Service Description

Delivery 

Risk 

(H-M-L) 

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

HR HR Staffing Low (156) (156) (156) (156)

HR Decommissioning of Midland License Medium (45) (45) (45) (45)

HR HR School Traded Model Medium (30) (50) (50) (50)

HR Data Maximisation to develop customer application Low (25) (40) (50) (80)

Communications LBHF Website Advertising Medium (30) (30) (30) (30)

Executive Services Leaders Office Reduction Low (50) (50) (50) (50)

(336) (371) (381) (411)

Savings

Total Savings

Budget Change

P
age 39



Appendix 2

Public Services Reform Risk/Challenges

Risk Risk Risk

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

2022/23  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Public Services Reform

No Risks Identified

Public Services Reform Total 0 0 0 

Corporate Services Risk/Challenges

Risk Risk Risk

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2019/20  

Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Corporate Services 

Communications
Income target from advertising on LBHF website is 

not realised
30 30 30

Income generation and marketing plan to be produced by the service. 

Regular monitoring of progress against target. 

Communications
Growth to offset Hammerprint income target is not 

awarded
170 170 170

Service to prepare alternative ways to offset the pressure that closing the 

print shop would cause

Human Resources
Demands from the business result in continued 

reliance on agency resources
100 100 100

Ensure that the business is self serving where possible, only referring to 

HR where necessary.

Corporate Services Total 300 300 300 

P
age 40



APPENDIX 3

1

DRAFT Equality Impact Analysis (EIA) of main budget proposals for 

Public Services Reform 

Departmental Restructure - £0.500m

As part of the bedding in of the service there will be some restructuring drawing on 
existing vacancies. These changes are not anticipated to have any equality impact 
on commissioned service delivery delivered by providers on behalf of the council.

Adult Homelessness - Wood Lane - £0.186m

This involved closing a short- term hostel and moving the remaining residents to 
alternative accommodation. An EIA was completed as part of the process and formal 
consultation undertaken. No adverse impact was identified in the assessment.  The 
summary analysis is provided. All residents have now been successfully moved to 
new settings appropriate to their needs. The saving is the full year effect of this 
change. 

Older People – Bishop Creighton House – H&F Connect - £0.070m

This saving relates to the closure of the service for older people following the expiry 
of the contract. This was identified as having a potential adverse impact on older 
people but officers identified sufficient alternative provision of activities provided in 
sheltered housing and in the general community to mitigate this impact, resulting in a 
revised neutral impact overall in the full EIA completed at the time.   

Corporate Services
The majority of Corporate Services’ savings relate to increasing income opportunities, 
managing and procuring contracts more effectively and efficiencies relating to back 
office staff and functions. There are no adverse equality implications for any particular 
groups or residents with protected characteristics. Where proposals affect staff, more 
detailed impact assessment will follow in line with the HR policy and procedure. 

HR Staffing - Proposed Saving of £0.156m
Following the restructure of HR & OD in 2018/19, two key posts were kept in as the 
senior business partners.  These posts were to retain corporate knowledge and skills 
given the loss of key staff over recent months.

Page 41



APPENDIX 3

2

These two posts (deputy HoHR) head up the corporate and schools’ functions.  With 
planned transition they can be deleted subject to successful recruitment to the 
consultant levels below them. 

There will be a neutral impact on staff with protected characteristics. Where there are 
staff changes leading to savings, Equality Impact Assessments are carried out as part 
of the reorganisation process. 

Decommissioning of the Midland Licence – Proposed Saving of £0.045m
The Council has maintained a read-only version of the Midland HR system following 
the implementation of Agresso – this was maintained in case an urgent re-
instatement of the former HR Payroll system was required.  The Council still needs 
to maintain the data but an alternative archiving solution could be implemented 
removing the need for Midland HR Licences. 

There will be a neutral impact on employees, proposal still allows sensitive data to 
be accessed securely via an alternative method. 

HR Schools Traded Model – Proposed saving (through increased income) of 
£0.030m
Development of new products for a pay-as-you-go schools service including 
microsite for schools’ recruitment advertising (one off cost to set up and charges per 
post and upselling). Other products include offers for occupational health service, 
revised payroll offer possibly with a commercial partner, benchmarking service, 
business efficiency and training. 

There will be a neutral impact on individuals with protected characteristics. The 
proposed saving is enhancing an offer already offered to schools and will improve 
back office functions.

Data maximisation to develop customer application – Proposed saving of 
£0.025m
The council holds data and information on a range of licenced premises and 
activities.  This information could be used to create an app and information about the 
businesses and activities in the borough, eg food ratings.  The app could be 
developed to get users feedback and crowd sourced reviews.  Local activities and 
other information (road closures, transport through open source data) could also be 
shared.  

Advertising revenue and products sold could generate income, such as funding 
streams through Public Health for health promotions, gym and activity advertising, 
etc. 

Page 42



APPENDIX 3

3

There will be a neutral impact on individuals with protected characteristics. The 
proposed saving intends to generate income through advertising.

LBHF Website Advertising – Proposed Saving of £0.030m
The proposal concerns selling targeted advertising space on the council’s website.  
There will be a neutral impact on individuals with protected characteristics. The 
proposed saving intends to generate income through advertising.

Leader’s Office Reduction – Proposed saving of £0.050m
The business case proposes a reduction on one administrator post.

There will be a neutral impact on staff with protected characteristics. Where there are 
staff changes leading to savings, Equality Impact Assessments are carried out as part 
of the reorganisation process. 

Page 43


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting and matters arising
	4 Specialist Housing
	5 Customer Care and Complaints
	6 2019 Medium Term Financial Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Savings and Growth
	Appendix 2 - Risks
	Appendix 3 - Draft Equality Impact Analysis


